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The Committee on Government Affairs was called to order by  
Chair Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick at 9:02 a.m. on Monday, April 27, 2009, in  
Room 3143 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, 
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on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the 
Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/75th2009/committees/.  
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GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 

 
None 
 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 
Susan Scholley, Committee Policy Analyst 
Cynthia Carter, Committee Manager 
Michelle Smothers, Committee Secretary 
Olivia Lloyd, Committee Assistant 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 
 
Nicole J. Lamboley, Chief Deputy, Office of the Secretary of State 
Kate Thomas, Deputy for Operations, Office of the Secretary of State 
Kimberlee Tarter, Deputy Administrator, Purchasing Division, Department 

of Administration  
Bru Ethridge, Notary Division Administrator, Digital Signature Coordinator, 

Office of the Secretary of State 
 

Chair Kirkpatrick: 
[Roll called.]  We will open the hearing on Senate Bill 53 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 53 (1st Reprint):  Makes various changes relating to the Office of the 

Secretary of State. (BDR 18-415) 
 
Nicole J. Lamboley, Chief Deputy, Office of the Secretary of State: 
Senate Bill 53 (1st Reprint) deals primarily with the statute governing the duties 
of the Office of the Secretary of State and its various functions.  There are 
three distinct issues addressed in this legislation.  I will address the first one and 
then ask Kate Thomas to follow up on the other two provisions.  The first one 
would allow the Secretary of State to develop and maintain a registry for the 
electronic storage and retrieval of certain documents, including wills, marriage 
licenses, birth certificates, insurance policies, and passports, just to name a 
few.  This, in essence, would be a virtual safety deposit box, and we call it the 
Nevada Lockbox.  It is actually modeled after the Nevada Living Will Lockbox 
legislation that the 2007 Legislature adopted, which is an advance directive 
registry.  It was sponsored by the Vice Chairman of this Committee, and it is for 
the electronic storage of end-of-life decisions related to advance directives and 
living wills, durable powers of attorney for health care, et cetera.   
 
We believe that this virtual safety deposit lockbox would allow people in our 
mobile society the opportunity to access legal documents at a time when they 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Bills/SB/SB53_R1.pdf�


Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
April 27, 2009 
Page 3 
 
need them.  This is not an original copy; it is just a photograph of a document.  
So if you were traveling and for some reason lost your passport, you would be 
able to log on through a secure website with a password and user name and 
retrieve a copy of your passport.  You could then go to the passport agency in 
that country and show them what your passport number is, so they would have 
access to retrieving it easier.  It is the same with wills and other legal 
documents; this would just be a storage unit for those wills.  There are 
estimated costs to establishing this, and while this is not the money committee, 
we have developed enabling language so that it would allow us to charge a fee 
to the customer for this secure lockbox storage.  The fee would be somewhere 
in the neighborhood of $10 to $20.  I think we built our fiscal note on $10 just 
to cover the security in the storage.  We believe that providing this service to 
the citizens would give them comfort and peace of mind in having access to 
documents when they need them.   
 
With fires or natural disasters, sometimes people lose copies of their insurance 
documents, so this would provide them with a place to go where they can get 
the policy information, accessible through the website, that enables them to 
expedite the services they need.  So again, it is not the original, it is just a 
photograph of the original, and it would not take the place of an original 
document.  If you had a copy of your marriage license or birth certificate, you 
would still need to go to the agency that can certify a copy of the original.  
Again, it is just a virtual safety deposit box.  With that, I would like to turn it 
over to Kate Thomas to address the other two pieces, and then we would be 
happy to answer any questions. 
 
Kate Thomas, Deputy for Operations, Office of the Secretary of State: 
The second piece of this bill, in section 17, repeals the Special Services 
Account, which is the account for the expedite fees that are generated by the 
Secretary of State's Commercial Recordings Division.  Currently, this fund 
receives 49.8 percent of the special services revenue, and the Secretary of 
State retains 50.2 percent.  This change would place all of the revenue into the 
General Fund making the Secretary of State's Office primarily generally funded.  
This corollary legislation allows for the changes proposed in the Governor's 
recommended budget, and with the elimination of this account, no longer would 
a portion of the staff and operations of the Secretary of State's Office be 
funded by special services, all would be funded by the General Fund.   
 
The third piece of the bill, in section 18, places the Administrator of the  
Securities Division into the unclassified service of the state.  Last session, the 
budget committees moved this position into unclassified status through the  
Pay Bill, but the Secretary of State's statute, Nevada Revised Statutes  
(NRS) Chapter 225, was not amended to reflect the change, so we are just 
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bringing this statute into conformity.  I would be happy to answer any questions 
about these sections at this time.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does anyone have any questions? 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
Is that $10 fee a one-time or a yearly fee? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
The fee would be a one-time fee, but then there might be fees based on the 
amount of storage.  So if someone was trying to store 100 documents, which 
uses up specific server size, we would look at that.  But we would do that 
through regulatory procedures, so the amount of the fee would be outlined 
through the regulation process.  Our goal would be to provide this at the lowest 
cost possible to the customer, but we also want to maintain the security and 
safety of the system and make sure that the customer is convinced that his 
documents are secure.  That would be the number one goal.   
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
Carbonite and other companies do that privately, and I understand the value, 
though, of having the Secretary of State do it because, then, if something 
happens people will look to the Secretary of State's location automatically, 
rather than a private company.  I thought wills had to be the original copy and 
that electronic copies were not acceptable.  I thought folks always had to find 
the original. 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
Yes, again, this does not replace the original.  It is just a place for someone to 
store documents they may need to refer to.  It would not serve as evidence in a 
courtroom; the original would have to be produced in that setting.  Some family 
members may not be aware that there is an actual will, so this would at least 
show that there is a will, and they would have to locate, perhaps, the attorney 
for or the location of that original.  Again, it does not certify that any of these 
are valid documents.  That would be up to a court to decide. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart: 
What is the advantage of section 18 going from classified to unclassified? 
 
Kate Thomas: 
This piece is basically cleanup language.  We already have the position.  It was 
placed in unclassified service last session, but this is just for us to amend our 
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statute, NRS Chapter 225, so that we can bring it into conformity with what 
the Legislature decided to do last session.   
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
I wanted to make a quick comment about this service.  As somebody that uses 
private online storage for other files, I can definitely see the advantage of having 
my most important files and documents being filed with the Secretary of State. 
Thank you for bringing this forward.  It is a great idea. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
How many other states have this system in place? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
The only state that we identified that has a will storage registry is the state of 
Idaho, and it is through their Secretary of State.  There are about a dozen states 
that have something related to the advance directive, or what we call here the 
Nevada Living Will Lockbox, but this would be separate from the advance 
directives.  That lockbox would still exist, related only to living wills and 
advance directives. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart: 
Have we had any problems with the Living Will Lockbox since it has been 
established? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
No.  In fact, we have had nothing but positive reaction from members of the 
public.  We get emails constantly saying that this is such a great service we 
should expand it, and we have told people we are attempting to do that.  We 
have nearly 2,000 registrants, and it has only been operational since March 25, 
2008. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Are there any other questions?  I noticed on the Senate side they asked if these 
could be subpoenaed, and you did not think so.  How are we going to verify 
what is in these boxes? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
A subpoena would obviously have to come through a court, and they would 
subpoena for the original—a court needs the original copy—so we believe that 
they probably could subpoena us, but we cannot provide an original, so they 
would have to go to the appropriate agency for it.  For instance, for a death 
certificate or something from vital statistics, a court would have to subpoena 
vital statistics for the original, because a court can only accept an original. 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
What are some of the other things that you might see in this?  Would you see 
something like old stocks or different things like that?  I am just curious. 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
Through the regulatory process, we would identify the types of documents that 
could be filed, but we do not want to be limiting.  As I said, it is a safety 
deposit box, only virtual.  We would not allow people to store photos and things 
like that because of the size, so one of the challenges we will have is identifying 
the types of documents and the storage required for those.  As a ministerial 
function, we do not verify the types of documents people store, and whether or 
not they are legitimate is for a court to determine. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does anyone have any questions?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone who 
would like to testify in support of S. B. 53 (R1)?  [There were none.]  Is there 
anyone in Las Vegas who would like to speak?  [There were none.]  Is there 
anyone who is neutral or in opposition to S.B. 53 (R1)?  [There were none.]  
With that, we will close the hearing on S.B. 53 (R1).  We will now open the 
hearing on Senate Bill 31 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 31 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions governing certain independent 

contractors with the State. (BDR 27-305) 
 
Kimberlee Tarter, Deputy Administrator, Purchasing Division, Department of 

Administration: 
I am here this morning to speak on Senate Bill 31 (R1), which is a housekeeping 
bill for the Purchasing Division.  Specifically, it is proposing to move  
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 284.173 into NRS Chapter 333.  The intent of 
NRS 284.173 is to define an independent contractor, and it is currently related 
to NRS Chapter 333 by reference.  I would like to give you an idea of what that 
reference is.  Section 1 of NRS 284.173 says, "Elective officers and heads of 
departments, boards, commissions or institutions may contract for the services 
of persons as independent contractors.  Except as otherwise provided by 
specific statute, each contract for services must be awarded pursuant to the 
provisions of Chapter 333 of NRS."  It is our belief that the intent of this 
language is a better fit in NRS Chapter 333, which is the state's purchasing act.  
Personnel statutes reside in NRS Chapter 284.  We have worked cooperatively 
with state personnel, and they support this bill.  When it was on the Senate 
side, the one change was the addition of requiring contractors to be properly 
licensed.  I am happy to answer any questions you may have.   
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Chair Kirkpatrick:  
Does anyone have any questions?  Repealing NRS 284.173 is an entire section 
of the law.  Why would we repeal that whole section and replace it with 
something that is not exactly the same?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
We are actually picking it up in its entirety and placing it into NRS Chapter 333, 
so the language itself is remaining whole.  While it talks about independent 
contractors, it also talks about the Board of Examiners and their authority for 
approving contracts.  Again, contracts are the process as set forth in  
NRS Chapter 333, so it just made sense to move the approval of those 
contracts into that statute. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does the Attorney General's Office currently do the form for these contracts?  
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, that is correct. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Where are those available to see?  And where do these independent contractors 
fit within the budget process? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
The state's model contract template is available on the Purchasing Division's 
website along with all of the other supporting documents for issuing the 
procurements.  With respect to the budget process, the contracts are the 
vehicle that the Budget Division uses.  So the process, with respect to 
contracting for an independent contractor, is that the procurements run through 
NRS Chapter 333.  When the contract is completed, it is submitted to the State 
Budget Division for approval and verification of appropriation, and then it is 
placed on the agenda for the Board of Examiners.   
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
One section of the statute that was repealed stated threshold dollar amounts for 
the applicability of the provisions.  You are going to change that, but could you 
determine what amount is better?  Do other agencies have that same power?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
With this language, we would not have the ability to make that decision.  That 
decision would actually have to be made by the Board of Examiners.  They 
would have to establish policy if they wanted to change the thresholds that are 
currently used for contracting.   
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Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
I was looking at the "text of the repealed sections," and it used to be that for 
contracts that were less than $2,000, the Board of Examiners could waive the 
requirements.  I guess I will have to look into that, because for the Uniform 
Commercial Code the threshold is $500. 
 
Assemblywoman Spiegel: 
Do all independent contractors' contracts go through the Department of 
Administration and through the Purchasing Division? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, all independent contracts go through the Department of Administration and 
the Purchasing Division, when the applicable thresholds are met.  Again, there 
are thresholds in this bill with respect to approving contracts, and there are also 
thresholds with respect to issuing solicitations.  Our office gets involved with 
contracts that are $100,000 and over, and we operate the procurement 
process.  Agencies have the authority to do their procurement process on 
contracts under that $100,000 threshold, and they run the same process.  They 
have to follow the same rules that we follow. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
If the Board of Examiners is going to set this amount now, that is being taken 
out, is that a regulatory process, or do you need regulations to do this?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
No, it would be state policy. These dollar amounts would not go into the 
regulations.  It would be presented to the Board, the Governor, the  
Attorney General, and the Secretary of State for their consideration, and they 
would determine what that policy would be. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
The bill says if you are an independent contractor you cannot get Public 
Employee Retirement System (PERS) or vacation leave, is that true? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, that is true. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
What kind of independent contractors do we need?  We have a lot of them, so 
what do we need them for as opposed to staffing? 
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Kimberlee Tarter: 
We do independent contracts with consultants, janitorial services, suicide 
hotlines, medical services, temporary nursing services, rental cars, and others.  
It is quite an extensive list. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
You need rental cars for independent contractors? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I want to make sure that we ask plenty of questions because I always like to 
see what happens when we put two bills together.  I never heard that we had 
all of these contracts out there until this Session, so I am a bit curious about 
how it works.  Currently, is there a limit per agency on how many contracts 
they can have, or how does that work? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
No, there are not any limits as far as how many contracts an agency can award.  
Everything with respect to contracting is driven by their appropriation, so as 
they build their budget, they identify the area they need to outsource and how 
much they project that it is going to cost.  So that is really what limits how 
much the contract is going to be and how many contracts are going to be 
awarded, and to whom. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is it listed in the budget as an outsource or as a person? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
I do not know exactly how it is listed in the budget, but as they develop their 
budget they have to identify their needs, and their budget analyst at the 
Department of Administration is the gatekeeper, so to speak, to ensure that 
they are complying with what their budget summary indicated they were going 
to do with that funding. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I see in the minutes from the Senate side that you made the change for the 
State Public Works Board on clarifying how that would work.  Does anyone else 
have any questions?  Is there anyone who would like to testify in support of or 
in opposition to S. B. 31 (R1)?  Is there anyone who is neutral on S.B. 31 (R1)?   
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When we have these independent contractors, do we verify that they have 
business licenses?  What is our process to verify all that?  I found when we did 
purchasing on the local level that some entities were not verifying that they had 
a business license.  I am curious as to what the process is to verify their 
qualifications and what their justification is before we send them to the Board of 
Examiners. 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, actually, there are two levels.  One is procurements that are issued by the 
Purchasing Division, and those go through the request for proposal process.  
The request for proposal process requires that they provide us with copies of 
their business license for the county or city that they are located in and identify 
whether they are a foreign corporation.  They need to provide us with any 
required license that may be necessary.  As an example, court reporters would 
have to have a certificate under NRS Chapter 656, so we would verify that they 
are in good standing.  That is a part of the vetting that is done through the 
request for proposal process at the Purchasing Division.  There is a template 
that is used for that, so when an agency has the authority to contract without 
going through the Purchasing Division, they follow a substantially similar 
process using our template, and we also provide training on the procurement 
process for the other state agencies.  So we are training them to ask the same 
questions, how to use that template, and where to go in order to verify that 
these contractors are appropriately licensed, responsible, and somebody with 
whom, in fact, we would want to be doing business.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is an independent contractor limited to how many independent contracts they 
can have throughout the state?  Could one person have one with Business and 
Industry and another with Housing?  
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, that can happen.  The independent contractors are not limited as to how 
many contracts they can have.  As a part of the process, we ask them to 
identify other state agencies with which they have contracts, so we can verify 
that the service they are providing to that agency is satisfactory.  They are also 
rated in a vendor performance database, so we can ensure that one agency is 
not contracting with a contractor who is providing unsatisfactory services to 
another state agency.  We ask what percentage of their total work they are 
doing for the state and whether the contract is going to restrict them from 
offering their services to any other entity, private or public. 
 
 
 



Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
April 27, 2009 
Page 11 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
What is the time frame?  Are we doing three- or four-year contracts, or are we 
limiting it to a particular need within our state?  Do we use independent 
contracts for the folks who are hired from the employment agencies, as well? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, to your first question.  A state policy limits contracts to a period of four 
years. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Do you know why four years was picked?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
I do not know. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
It seems that you might just as well have an employee after one and a half 
years. 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Some of these services are not services that employees typically can do, so the 
agency would have to bring someone in.  With some of these services, the 
agency has to make the decision whether it is in the state's best interest to 
replace them with an employee at a later date and time.  The four years is 
policy.  It is sometimes deviated from the approval of the Board of Examiners 
when there is justification to support entering into a longer-term contract, for 
example, the digitized driver's license.  That contract was reviewed and 
supported to enter into a nine-year contract, because there was an 18-month 
implementation period, and they were able to clearly demonstrate that there 
was significant cost savings to the state by having a longer contractual 
relationship with that independent contractor than the four years that policy 
currently dictates.  There are exceptions that have to be substantiated, justified, 
and submitted to the Board of Examiners for consideration beyond the four 
years, but I do not know the genesis of the four years itself.  That was in policy 
before I was with the state.   
 
Your second question pertained to when a temporary employment agency is 
involved.  That is exactly the purpose of that temporary employment agency, 
contractually speaking.  The questions addressed earlier with respect to 
withholding of taxes do not come into play because we are not paying the 
individual that is sitting at the desk doing the work, he is being paid by the 
temporary employment agency.  So we are clearly determining that the 
relationship between the state and the temporary employment agency is that of 
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an independent contractor, and the temporary employment agency's relationship 
with the worker is that of employee and employer.  That protects the state in 
any potential litigation if that individual ever comes back trying to assert that he 
was treated as an employee and, therefore, he is entitled to retirement and 
other benefits from the state. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there a process where we go back and make sure that we are not keeping 
them longer than the four years?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, when contracts come up for expiration, agencies that want to extend 
those contracts have to submit a justification form to the budget office 
identifying why they are extending it.  The budget office is also a gatekeeper to 
ensure that the policy is being complied with and that the agency is not going 
beyond the four-year period if that agency is presenting a new contract for this 
same service that it had under contract previously.  Again, the budget office is 
the gatekeeper ensuring that, in summary, agencies are indicating when they 
went out to procurement, how many venders were solicited, that the state's 
policies are being complied with, and that everyone has had that opportunity. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Do you mean the budget office within the agency or the Board of Examiners or 
the fiscal office?  Budget office seems to be a big term this Session.  Which 
budget office is it? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
All the offices mentioned above.  This is the typical government process where 
there are multiple layers.  The agency has to get through their own internal 
budget analyst first, and once they pass that gatekeeper, they would go to the 
Department of Administration's Budget Office.  Once that budget analyst signed 
off, they would be allowed to go to the Board of Examiners and have their 
contract considered for approval.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Do you know about how much we pay in fees to the employment agencies?  
How does that work?  Is that included in the budget? 
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
The staffing agencies charge an administrative fee, and it is approximately 
25 percent.  Included in that 25 percent is the tax that they have to match for 
the unemployment tax.  So it is not a straight 25 percent markup or profit, there 
are the other fees and overhead that are included in there, plus the taxes. 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
All of that goes to the budget office as well?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
Yes, that is all submitted to the budget office in the total budget authority that 
an agency may have.  Let us say that an agency wants to contract for a nurse 
to come in and provide staffing for a veterans nursing home in Las Vegas.  If 
the agency has an employee, a nurse, who is going to go on vacation, it can go 
to one of the contracted temporary employment agencies that provide medical 
staffing and then, for that two week period, bring somebody in to replace the 
employee who is on leave to ensure that the agency meets its requirements 
from the federal government for staffing.  That would be included in the total 
cost that they would have to stay within. 
 
Assemblyman Aizley: 
This morning we are hearing about independent contractors, but previously in 
another bill we heard about consultants.  Do you see those as the same topic or 
separate topics?  How would you separate a consultant from an independent 
contractor?   
 
Kimberlee Tarter: 
They are rolled up into the same category.  An independent contractor is a very 
broad definition of somebody who provides services to the state, but each type 
of service is then treated differently, depending on the relationship with the 
agency that is contracting for the service.  Temporary nursing contracts are 
going to be solicited differently, with a very different scope of work and very 
different requirements for compliance, than contracts for consultants.  So the 
answer is yes, they are all independent contractors, but no, they are not treated 
the same.  Everybody is treated differently based on what service he is going to 
provide. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does anyone else have any questions?  [There were none.]  We will close the 
hearing on S.B. 31 (R1).  We will now open the hearing on Senate Bill 92  
(1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 92 (1st Reprint):  Makes various changes relating to the regulation of 

notaries public. (BDR 19-414) 
 
Bru Ethridge, Notary Division Administrator, Digital Signature Coordinator,  

Office of the Secretary of State: 
[Spoke from prepared testimony (Exhibit C).]   
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Are there any questions?  
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
This is a question about the technical aspects of how this is done.  In terms of 
the types of documents that can actually be notarized electronically, is any 
consideration given to the format in terms of the changeability of the 
documents subsequent to the notarization?  In other words, if I show up with a 
Word document, it is notarized, and then I change it, what is the point versus a 
locked PDF document?  What consideration has been given to file formats and, 
specifically, the proprietary nature of the file formats?  In other words, if you 
have picked a locked format that is suitable, like a PDF, do we have alternatives 
to the PDF rather than something that is essentially owned by a corporation, in 
terms of its intellectual property? 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Yes.  This is done with the technology for eNotarization.  There are specific 
vendors who provide this technology.  It would be part of our regulations that 
they would have to select a vendor that has been approved by the Secretary of 
State's Office.  Currently, eNotarization is done by several states.  They wrap 
the document in some kind of form so that it cannot be tampered with.  That is 
why it is important that they use these specific vendors, and I believe that there 
are at least six of them that have this technology and provide it to the notaries 
for a nominal fee.  They would use that technology and proven system, which 
prevents the document from being tampered with once it has been notarized 
and signed through that technology.   
 
Assemblyman Bobzien: 
I know there is no right answer to this and there is nothing you are going to say 
that is going to address this concern, I just want to get this on the record.  I 
understand you are going to have to look into vendors and pick a vendor to do 
this; it is not something that we can create on our own.  However, I am 
concerned, looking at your rulemaking, that the chosen format be as open as 
possible, so that we are not tied as a state to one particular private company 
that may sell to somebody else, and then we are stuck with it.  So whatever 
can be done in this regard, through rulemaking and vendor selection, to pick as 
open a format as possible is really going to be important.   
 
Bru Ethridge: 
That is part of the rulemaking, as I said.  Under NRS Chapter 719, it states that 
the technology has to be open.  It is not any one particular type of technology; 
it is to cover all of them.  We understand the concern.  As technology moves 
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forward, we must have the capability to view these documents by advanced 
technology as well as by earlier technology.  We are aware of that. 
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
Why in the world would anybody want to do that, anyway?  I would never in 
my life send something by email to have somebody put my signature on it.  
Why not just give them your credit card number?  I could not support anything 
like this. 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
This technology is mostly done in the work environment and has to do with 
record keeping.  Unfortunately, we are all moving towards the electronic age, 
and the storing of documents has become very important in order to save paper.  
They are trying to ensure that the processes of signing are done expediently.  
The county recorders' offices are currently accepting documents electronically.  
When you talk about electronic documents and how they are received, you have 
to ask questions like: what does that mean to me?  It is receiving a document 
electronically through the computer which has gone through email and has been 
received through email. 
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
I know exactly what you are talking about.  I have had my identity stolen three 
times already.  Now tell me all about how these documents and emails you are 
talking about are safe.  Thieves are waiting and praying for something like this.  
All they need is your signature on these documents.  You say they lock them in, 
well then how come I lost thousands of dollars and had to fight this thing?  
Have you ever had your identity stolen?  I tell you what, you do not want to 
have it done because it takes you months and months to finally get everything 
straightened out.  You have to change every bank account, every credit card, 
your driver's license, everything you have with your name on it.  It has 
happened to me three times, and they said they got my credit card number from 
ATM machines.  I said that is impossible, and they told me nothing is 
impossible.  And I said, yes it is because I do not have an ATM card.  So how 
did they get it?  You can talk until you are blue in the face, you will never get 
my support on this bill. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I have a question about section 29, subsection 6.  I know you discussed this, 
but I guess I did not understand what you were saying.  If we could go back to 
that piece: what other licenses can they acquire?  If we are going to allow them 
to get a notary license, what other license can they get?  I thought that within 
the statutes they were restricted from what they could do if they had been 
convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude. 
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Bru Ethridge: 
I am not aware of other licenses.  When a person has been convicted of a 
crime, and they have served their time and paid their restitution, they can get a 
driver's license.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
A driver's license is not a business license.  I do not understand what moral 
turpitude is.  What is it? 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
It is a very broad definition, but it is a definition of a crime that is inherently 
wicked, where theft or embezzlement may be involved.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Okay, I understand the definition, so now we are going to let them be a notary?   
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Some people have been convicted of crimes of robbery, but they have served 
their time, paid their restitution, and for ten years they have been a model 
citizen.  Now they would like to be a notary.  Sometimes it is a condition of 
employment that they must be a notary.  If they have served their time, paid 
their restitution, and been a model citizen for ten years, we would like to be 
able to give them a notary appointment because they have paid their debt to 
society. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I am uncomfortable with that piece myself. 
 
Nicole J. Lamboley, Chief Deputy, Office of the Secretary of State: 
In order to be a notary you have to have your civil rights restored, so this would 
not be someone who does not posses their civil rights.  The term moral 
turpitude is very broad and can be defined in some jurisdictions as someone 
with a DUI conviction, because it is morally reprehensible to some.  We would 
not give a notary appointment to people who have committed crimes where 
they have fraudulently committed an act that involves taking someone's money 
or embezzlement.  There are certain crimes where we feel that if you have 
committed it once, you are likely to commit it again.  According to consultation 
with our legal counsel, the definition is very broad.  In some instances, someone 
has committed a crime of moral turpitude that has nothing to do with their 
notary appointment.  It is a little different standard.  The idea here is to give us 
some latitude to work with our legal counsel in evaluating the type of crime and 
conditions under which the person was convicted of a crime of moral turpitude.  
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If you look up the crime of moral turpitude in the statute, it is not always very 
clear; it is always changing.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I noticed from the minutes of the Senate hearing that we modeled our 
Legislation on North Carolina.  Are there other states that do this? 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Yes, other states use the electronic notarization. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick:  
The way that we have ours written. 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Yes, we modeled ours after the North Carolina statutes.  
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
So this bill is almost exactly like North Carolina's?  
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Yes, it is, with the exception of the crime of moral turpitude.  The eNotarization 
part is modeled strictly after North Carolina's statute.  We just substituted their 
state's name with our state.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
How long has North Carolina's statute been in place? 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
It has been in place for two years, and they currently have over 700 electronic 
notaries.   
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
I did research on this, and I see that Texas has been doing this since 2004. 
They indicated that about 35 percent of their notaries are eNotaries.  Regarding 
moral turpitude, would you be okay with the idea of putting language into the 
NRS to say that, if you have been convicted of identity theft or computer 
hacking, there is no way we are going to let you be an eNotary? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
If that would be the pleasure of the Committee, we would definitely look at 
that. 
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Assemblyman Claborn: 
I would like to see the Bunko Squad help out.  How much did the crime rate in 
North Carolina go up with identity thefts?  Do you have any data on that?  I 
would like to know how much the crime rate went up and how many people the 
Bunko Squad had to hire to catch up with all of the identity theft that the North 
Carolina legislation must have caused.  
 
Bru Ethridge: 
No sir, we have not had any statistics on it, yet.  But I did check with  
North Carolina to see if they had experienced any problems, and they did not 
report any problems as of today. 
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
Could you do some research and see if we could get that information?  I am 
sure that identity theft has gone up. 
 
Bru Ethridge: 
You would like research on whether electronic notarization has had an affect on 
fraud?  Sir, is that what you are asking for? 
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
I would like to see some data on fraud and crime rates, absolutely.  I know for a 
fact that when you give a crook carte blanche, as we are trying to do here, he 
is going to try and take advantage of it.  There is no doubt in my mind what is 
going to happen, and if you can show me the crime rate statistics from the 
North Carolina Bunko Squad, and whether or not they have gone up, that would 
be great.  I cannot believe that the crime rate has not escalated.   
 
Bru Ethridge: 
We will check into that. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
Some of the younger people on the Committee do not know what a  
Bunko Squad is.   
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
Why not teach them?  Right now would be a great time to teach them. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce: 
It is true.  I feel strongly about notaries.  On the he-possesses-his-civil-rights 
topic, does that mean he has received his voting rights back? 
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Bru Ethridge:  
Yes. 
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
To get one's voting rights back, do you have to have that violation expunged 
from your record if you were convicted of a crime, or do you just have to have 
fully completed parole?   
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
The restoration of your civil rights and your voting rights is very extensive, and I 
would be very happy to provide you with a written response as to how that 
occurs, but I do not want to make a misstatement or miss something for the 
record.  If I could follow up with you, I would be happy to do so.   
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
So that would go beyond just serving out your parole? 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
Yes.  I think in this state—again, it is not clear cut—generally, when you are 
released your civil rights are restored immediately.  In some states you do not 
lose your civil rights.  In Maine for instance, you never lose your civil rights.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Can you give that information to the whole Committee? 
 
Assemblywoman Mastroluca: 
With the use of electronic notary, if I was in a position where I had to have my 
signature notarized on multiple occasions, would they be able to store that 
signature and use it again? 
 
Bru Etheridge: 
Like I said, I am not a technical person.  I have never been asked that question 
before, and I honestly do not know the answer to the question, and I have 
never heard of it being stored. 
 
Assemblywoman Mastroluca: 
I could see an advantage and a disadvantage.  Obviously, there is a 
disadvantage because it could be used fraudulently, but there is an advantage 
for anyone who has had to sign mortgage documents.  That generally takes 
about 45 minutes and results in a lot of cramping by the time you are done. 
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Bru Ethridge: 
When a document is notarized, one of the provisions under NRS Chapter 240 is 
that the document signer has to apply their signature and the notary must be 
present, each and every time.  That is the safety factor, and we write that into 
law so the notary is not tempted to copy and paste the signature from 
document to document, because that carries a very hefty fine.  We teach that in 
the training class and explain that to them.  The notary has to physically see the 
signer sign the document.  The notary cannot just cut and paste even a paper 
document.  The document cannot be signed out of the presence of the notary. 
 
Assemblywoman Mastroluca: 
I understand that is the rule, but I could just see the potential, especially in a 
large business.  I have a friend who is an executive secretary, she notarizes for 
her boss all the time, and it would be very simple for her to be able to cut and 
paste.  I do not know how you would prevent that. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I think you would have to change the whole law. 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
The document would still have to be signed by the document signer in the 
presence of the electronic notary. The actual notary stamp, instead of putting it 
on with ink, would be affixed electronically.  It is not the electronic signature of 
the individual; it is still a real signature.  It is the notarization that is the 
electronic version.  One of the concerns that the Secretary of State and I both 
had was to ensure the security of the document.  We would definitely address 
that additionally through the regulatory process to ensure that it is a wet 
signature and not an electronic signature.  There is the digital signature, the 
electronic signature, and the electronic stamp, so we would certainly address all 
of those and make those distinctions.   
 
Assemblywoman Mastroluca: 
If I am signing on a digital pad, like you do when you sign for a credit card, I 
believe that can be stored—there is a way to store it.   
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
Under certain state laws, we cannot store certain information because it is a 
violation, just as we cannot store personal identifying information such as a 
complete social security number or somebody's date of birth.  We can certainly 
put a prohibition against storing an electronic signature into the regulatory 
process and put a penalty in for someone who does. 
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Assemblywoman Spiegel: 
If a document was eNotarized, then why not make that document count as an 
original under Senate Bill 53 (R1), that we heard earlier this morning?  
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
That is a different function.  Senate Bill 53 (R1) deals with the storage of 
original documents.  This bill, S.B. 92 (R1), deals with the transfer of 
documents.  They are two wholly separate issues.  This bill would be taking a 
copy of a document generated by another authority.  If you printed out 
something that was electronically notarized and stored it in the Lockbox, as 
discussed under S.B. 53 (R1), that is not the original, it is only a copy.  The 
original would be the original document where that original eNotarization stamp 
was placed.  So there is a difference.  We accept a scanned-in copy; we will not 
accept electronic documents.  You cannot send an email to the Lockbox with a 
document and say, this is the original file.  We would not accept that; we only 
accept copies.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I see where Ms. Spiegel is going, so maybe afterwards, Ms. Lamboley, you can 
meet with her.  If it is done electronically, that hard copy has to go somewhere. 
 
Nicole Lamboley: 
I would have to look at that, specifically.  But again, when you transmit a 
document that is generated electronically, the initial, originating document is the 
original.  If someone prints it out and sends it to us, that is a copy; if they sent 
us the original, we would have to reject it because we will not accept original 
documents. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Are there any other questions?  [There were none.]  I see where this comes into 
play: for example, if the interest rate on a house changes after 5:00 p.m. at the 
end of the day, and the deed is recorded at 5:01 p.m., as opposed to when you 
are signing at 4:40 p.m.  Is this the kind of situation you were thinking of where 
this would come in handy with respect to the local governments?   
 
Bru Ethridge: 
Yes, Madam Chair, you are absolutely correct.  If there is a deadline for the 
signing of a document, and time is of the essence, it can be signed 
electronically.  When the notary attaches her stamp, and clicks on the 
appropriate button, locking down the document and wrapping it so that it 
cannot be tampered with, they can then shoot it off electronically to the 
recorder's office, where they can accept it, record it, and beat that deadline.   
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I am sad that everything is becoming so technology-based, and we are all going 
to forget to talk to each other.  Is there anyone who would like to testify in 
support of or in opposition to S.B. 92 (R1)?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone 
who is neutral on S.B. 92 (R1)?  [There were none.]  With that, we are going to 
close the hearing on S.B. 92 (R1).  Is there anything from the public?   
[There was none.]  Is there anything from the Committee?  [There was none.]  
With that, I will close the meeting on Assembly Government Affairs.  Thank you 
and have a nice week.   
 
The meeting is adjourned [at 10:08 a.m.]. 
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